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Facts
 

Alex B. was a three-year-old victim of homicide while in the custody of the Department of Children and Families (DCF). On September 8, 2000, DCF placed Alex in the care of a Florida couple. Less than three weeks later, Alex died and the prospective adoptive father was arrested and charged with first-degree felony murder.

 

Alex was born on January 25, 1997 and was placed with a foster family in Connecticut shortly after birth. When Alex was seven months old DCF moved him to Maine to live with a maternal uncle and his partner, who had expressed interest in adopting Alex. Shortly after moving to Maine, Alex was diagnosed with numerous special health and developmental needs.

 

DCF ultimately decided to remove Alex from his relative’s care after three years and, without appropriate assessment or preparation, placed him with prospective adoptive foster parents in Florida. Within a week of leaving Maine, Alex was dead.

 

Findings and Recommendations
The fatality review investigation revealed that DCF made errors throughout the course of Alex’s life. The most significant mistakes, which led to Alex’s death, include the following:
· DCF failed to obtain even basic information about Alex’s prospective adoptive parents before sending him to live with them 
· DCF violated the requirements of the Interstate Compact of the Placement of Children that would have protected Alex from harm in order to expedite his placement in Florida.
· DCF provided inadequate supervision of the caseworker’s decisions.
· DCF failed to ensure that Alex had health insurance or providers in Florida to meet his special needs.

The mishandling of Alex’s case predates the Florida placement and began with his placement in foster care. The investigation found the following:

· DCF failed to adequately monitor his care by the foster family in Maine.
· DCF failed to provide support or guidance to the foster family despite Alex’s complex needs.

DCF must address these problems in an effort to prevent other tragedies from occurring. Recommendations include the following:
· DCF needs to ensure that all employees understand and obey the Interstate Compact requirement.

· DCF must clearly communicate to its employees that existing rules for monitoring and visiting the child apply equally to children placed with out-of-state families.

· DCF must simplify the voluminous and often irrelevant policies that dictate employees’ daily practice. Employees also need ongoing training so that they understand the policies they are expected to implement.

· DCF should develop a management system that allows supervisors to obtain accurate information upon which to evaluate case practice decisions and employee performance. With access to objective, independent information, supervisors will be able to ensure that employees engage in sound case practice and that agency policies are followed.

Conclusion
 

A single failure connects the many mistakes that led to Alex’s death: DCF failed to recognize and act in the best interests of Alex. DCF treated him as a case to be processed and not a child to be nurtured.

 

DCF was Alex’s legal parent. The agency was responsible for providing a safe, nurturing home for him. Yet, DCF failed to act like a responsible parent.

 

No responsible parent would send a three-year-old child 1,500 miles away to live with strangers. No responsible parent would fail to monitor the child’s care by relatives in another state. No responsible parent would ignore the obvious needs of the relative caregivers for guidance and support.

 

In this case, the failure to focus on Alex’s best interests, combined with poor judgment, resulted in a tragedy. The most urgent issue that must be addressed is the inadequate supervision of caseworker decisions. Supervisors rely almost exclusively on the caseworker for information about the case and the child. This lack of objective information prevents supervisors from effectively monitoring performance and case practice. In addition, DCF policies are voluminous, unclear, and poorly communicated, making practice inconsistent and noncompliance routine.

 

______________________________

Jeanne Milstein, Child Advocate
Chairperson, Child Fatality Review Panel

 

 

Methodology
 

This investigation included a review of over 2,500 pages of documents and interviews with numerous individuals in three states. Records reviewed included child protective services documents, health records, developmental records, legal correspondence, law enforcement records and interagency communications. Interviews were conducted with involved child welfare professionals in Connecticut, Maine and Florida as well as caregivers, family members and providers. Confidentiality has been maintained.

 

DCF fully cooperated with this investigation. DCF also conducted an internal review, the results of which were released on November 8, 2000.

 

A Review of Alex's Life
 

Alex in Connecticut
 

Alex was born in Hartford, Connecticut on January 25, 1997. According to hospital records, he was of normal birth weight and experienced an uneventful hospital nursery stay. Alex was placed from the nursery directly into a DCF licensed foster home because of mental health and domestic violence concerns in his family’s home. Alex’s older siblings, twin boys born on December 30, 1994, had previously been placed in a different foster home for similar reasons. Alex remained in this foster home until August 1997, and except for a copy of his well child care health record from his pediatrician at that time, there is essentially no information in the DCF files about Alex’s first several months of life.

 

From the time of his birth, Alex’s extended family advocated for his placement with maternal relatives in Maine. The family was also seeking to have the twins placed with Maine relatives. The children’s attorney supported the plan to move Alex and his brothers to Maine and advocated for a prompt transition.

 

Finally, in July 1997, the twins went to live with a maternal uncle and his wife in Maine. One month later, Alex was placed with another maternal uncle Mr. B. and his partner, Ms. H. Mr. B. and Ms. H. had two children at the time, an 8-year-old daughter and a 1-year-old son. They were licensed for relative foster care through the Maine child welfare agency. DCF requested Maine supervise Alex’s placement through the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children. 

The Interstate Compact is the best means we have to ensure protection and services to children who are placed across state lines for foster care or adoption. The Compact is a uniform law enacted by all 50 states, the District of Columbia, and the U.S. Virgin Islands.1
 

Alex’s First Year in Maine
 

On August 20, 1997, at seven months old, Alex moved to Maine to live with his maternal uncle and his family. Early in September, Alex’s new primary care physician voiced several concerns about Alex’s health. These included a possible diagnosis of cerebral palsy, hip dysplasia and a severely turned in foot. Alex immediately began physical therapy.

 

On October 1, 1997, Alex was evaluated by a multidisciplinary early intervention team for the purpose of developmental assessment and intervention planning. This initial evaluation found Alex to have motor delays that the team members believed to be compatible with a diagnosis of cerebral palsy as well as problems with his left eye. The team recommended continued physical therapy.

 

Ms. H. notified DCF on January 13, 1998 that Maine had experienced a severe ice storm and she had made arrangements for Alex to stay with family friends, Mr. and Mrs. C., until power and heat were restored to the home. DCF made an immediate request of Maine to run a background check with Maine child protective services and the police on Mr. and Mrs. C. This couple had no children of their own and the background checks revealed no history of problems.

 

On January 21, 1998, the foster mother contacted the DCF caseworker to inform her that Alex was admitted to the hospital with an infection and was discharged after two days. The record does not indicate what action DCF took in response to this information. The record from that hospital admission stated, "Alex appears to be a happy and well adjusted little boy who appears to be well cared for by [his foster mother], she seems to be strongly invested in doing what is in his best interest…she appears to be a very child oriented woman who has a strong capacity to nurture."

 

The foster mother notified DCF on January 28, 1998 that Alex was readmitted to the hospital for a gastrointestinal viral infection. A follow-up call was made to her by the DCF caseworker on February 6, 1998.

 

Ms. H. contacted DCF again on March 27, 1998 when she reported that Alex was again in the hospital. Hospital officials subsequently contacted DCF to request permission for medical testing and treatment. A diagnosis of mild Von Willebrand Factor (VWF), a form of hemophilia, was made. Alex remained hospitalized until April 5, 1998. The DCF caseworker made a follow-up call to the foster mother on April 8, 1998. The foster mother informed the worker that Alex was now experiencing seizures, had been referred to a neurologist and that there was concern regarding his growth.

 

Over the next few weeks, DCF documentation reflects regular phone contact between the foster mother and DCF. On April 2, 1998 Alex’s physician certified that Alex was "medically fragile". DCF policy provides for enhanced financial support to foster parents caring for such children with identified special health care needs that impact their daily life activities and require extraordinary caregiving.

 

Alex had a second comprehensive developmental evaluation in May 1998. The evaluation indicated that Alex’s motor and balance skills continued to lag behind his chronological age. It also noted speech and language delays. The team recommended physical therapy, speech and language therapy and occupational therapy. All of these recommended therapies were implemented in a timely fashion.

 

DCF did not visit Alex until he had lived in Maine for ten months. On June 12, 1998 the DCF caseworker made her first visit, accompanied by a DCF nurse. During the visit, the caseworker noted that Alex’s foster mother "has a beautiful rapport…and appears to understand the needs of her children." The case narrative documenting this visit also reflected a discussion between the worker and the foster mother regarding the worker’s concern that the foster mother was interpreting Alex’s health and developmental issues in an exaggerated manner in her communication with DCF. Ms. H. acknowledged her tendency to worry and shared her concern that DCF would remove Alex from her because they would not feel that she could adequately care for him.

 

This was DCF’s only visit during the three years in which Alex lived with this family. Two weeks later Ms. H. contacted DCF to inform them she had given birth to an infant daughter with Down Syndrome. There had been no mention of Ms. H’s pregnancy prior to this entry. She now was caring for three young children, two with identified special needs.

 

On July 27, 1998, Maine CPS notified DCF that they had accepted for investigation a report of alleged neglect of Alex by his foster parent. The reporter alleged that Alex was being left unattended in his crib for extended periods of time while his foster mom focused her attention on the new baby. It was also alleged that Ms. H’s three-year-old son was being aggressive towards Alex. Maine agreed to notify DCF of the investigation findings and provided DCF with the "anonymous" reporter’s name and number. The DCF caseworker contacted the reporter and was told of the allegations.

 

A supervisory narrative of July 29, 1998 indicated discussion between the DCF supervisor and caseworker about moving Alex from this foster placement because of concerns about the quality of Alex’s care and their belief that Ms. H. was overwhelmed with her child caring responsibilities. This narrative also stated that DCF had not yet received any documentation from the state of Maine regarding Interstate Compact oversight of Alex’s placement. DCF did receive notice from Maine on August 20, 1998 that the July 27, 1998 allegation of neglect was not substantiated.

 

Alex’s Second Year in Maine
 

On September 9, 1998 DCF received a telephone call from the Maine Interstate Compact worker reporting that Alex was doing very well and that the foster mother was managing the care of all the children. This worker also shared observations that Alex "appeared to be easily frustrated, quick tempered and very needy."

 

Between August 1998 and January 1999 DCF received two calls from the foster parent sharing information on Alex’s developmental progress in his early intervention programs. The record does not reflect any calls or contact made from DCF to the foster family.

 

On January 20, 1999 DCF was advised that Alex had been treated for an injury to his left hip. After unsuccessfully attempting to contact the foster mother, the DCF worker contacted another Maine relative who informed that the child was hospitalized with a hip injury that he allegedly sustained in his crib. On January 22, 1999 DCF reported the incident to Maine child protection officials and requested an investigation of the incident. The DCF caseworker contacted the hospital and noted in the file that the hospital social worker reported concern about the foster mother being overwhelmed. Abuse was not substantiated as the pediatrician found that the injury was consistent with a crib accident.

 

The DCF case narrative of January 25, 1999 reflects the worker’s personal concern regarding the foster mother’s perception of and response to Alex’s needs. However, the entry is completed with a statement that the worker believed that Alex was adequately cared for. A subsequent entry, on this same day, communicated to DCF management the worker’s desire to move the child as soon as possible.

Despite the stated concerns and the significant injury to Alex, no further follow-up contact was made with his foster family until Alex was brought to Connecticut for a family visit in May 1999. During this time period DCF case activity was focused primarily on contact with Alex’s providers and extended family members. DCF was pursing their plan to remove Alex from his foster home and intended to place him in the home of another Maine relative. Alex’s third developmental evaluation, in April 1999, recommended that Alex continue to receive multidisciplinary early intervention services. The report also recommended a mental health evaluation for Alex and behavior management support for the foster parents.

 

On May 14, 1999 Alex and his brothers traveled to Connecticut with an aunt for a visit with his parents. In the DCF office, prior to that visit, the caseworker noted in the record that the children’s aunt inquired as to the permanency plan for Alex and the aunt commented that she believed it would be in Alex’s best interest if he was removed from Ms. H.’s care. There is no further elaboration of concern.

 

On July 13, 1999 the Department of Children and Families filed a Termination of Parental Rights (TPR) petition on behalf of Alex in the Superior Court for Juvenile Matters. Also during this month, the case record reveals, there was discussion within DCF regarding Ms. H’s legal standing to adopt Alex as she was not married to the uncle and therefore not a legal relative.

 

DCF participated in a conference call meeting with Alex’s early intervention team on August 19, 1999. The foster mother was present with the team during this meeting. There was no further communication between DCF and Alex’s caregiver until June 19, 2000, ten months later.

 

Throughout his second year, Alex continued to receive early intervention services and behavior management support. Evaluator reports during this time describe Ms. H. in favorable terms in their written assessments and recommend enhanced caregiver support.

 

Alex’s Third Year in Maine

On October 12, 1999 the Superior Court for Juvenile Matters terminated the parental rights of Alex’s biological parents. A mental health assessment completed in October 1999 described Alex as having "complex and confusing needs" and recommended that his caregivers receive therapeutic support to assist Alex.

 

On November 18, 1999 DCF convened an internal multidisciplinary clinical team to discuss their concerns regarding Alex’s placement situation and his permanency plan. The team made specific recommendations for further professional assessment of his current caregivers’ commitment and ability to meet his comprehensive needs. DCF received a report from a Maine Interstate Compact worker on 12/27/99, which included a recent behavioral and mental health assessment of Alex. Recommendations from those evaluations included family support and the need for a permanency plan.

 

In May 2000, DCF appeared ready to allow Alex’s adoption by his relative foster parents. On May 24, 2000 her supervisor informed the worker that her request for payment for the recommended psychological assessments was denied by the program supervisor with the directive that she was to proceed with the adoption of Alex by his relative foster parents. On June 19, 2000, however, the caseworker called the foster parents to tell them that only the maternal uncle could adopt Alex because the couple was not legally married. DCF informed Ms. H. her name could not be on the adoption certificate. As noted previously, this was DCF’s first conversation with the foster parents since August 1999.

 

Several days later, a Maine social worker called DCF because the foster mother was frustrated. A second Maine provider called DCF because the foster mother was voicing doubts about adopting Alex and the provider noted that the foster mother might be detaching from Alex. On June 23, 2000 the caseworker resubmitted her request to the administration for payment of a psychological assessment because of the reported concerns of the Maine providers.

 

Ms. H. called DCF on June 29, 2000, to report that she and Alex’s uncle had decided not to keep Alex. She stated that they still loved Alex but he was too much for them to handle. DCF requested that she keep Alex until an adoptive home could be found. The caseworker recommended immediate counseling to assist the family and the child in preparing for eventual separation.

 

Two weeks later, a mental health worker in Maine called DCF because the foster mother said she had reached her limit in caring for Alex. DCF agreed to try to provide weekend respite care.

 

In July 2000 DCF asked Maine to assist them in finding Alex a foster home. Maine declined to assist and informed DCF that Connecticut was responsible for finding a placement for Alex. Maine did agree to provide continued supervision until such placement was secured. Ongoing discussions with Alex’s other Maine relatives ultimately concluded that permanent placement within the family was not possible. The DCF caseworker made a referral on August 3, 2000 to Connecticut’s adoption resource unit for matching with non-relative licensed pre-adoptive parents.

 

Events Leading to Alex’s Move to Florida
 

On August 15, 2000, Ms. H. shared with DCF her plan to have Alex spend the next couple of weeks with other relatives in Maine. Her plan was discouraged by the caseworker who noted, "it would not be healthy for Alex to go from place to place." DCF declared their intent to bring Alex back to Connecticut on August 21st. A request was promptly made to the DCF nurse to assist the worker in transitioning Alex because of his identified special health and developmental needs. The nurse provided explicit recommendations regarding ensuring prospective caregiver preparation and arranging the necessary specialty follow-up prior to moving this child.

 

On August 17, 2000 the DCF social work supervisor requested sanction by her administration of a plan to pursue placement of Alex with a couple in Florida. This couple, Mr. & Mrs. C., had previously cared for Alex for several days in Maine during the 1998 ice storm. Mr. and Mrs. C. claimed to be in the beginning stages of becoming licensed in Florida as an adoptive family.

 

The Florida adoption-licensing agency (CHS) informed DCF that the usual licensing process, including family training and FBI check, would take approximately ten weeks. Florida procedure required referral of the family to the Florida Department of Child and Families to perform the required intensive home study. In addition, Connecticut DCF was informed the CHS could not handle oversight or supervision of a case involving the Interstate Compact. However, CHS did agree to conduct a walk-through of the C. family home and complete a child protective services (CPS) records and local criminal records check.

On August 28, 2000 the DCF worker had a telephone conversation with Mr. C. Mr. C. expressed interest in knowing when DCF was going to arrange for him and his wife to travel to Maine to pick up Alex. It was explained to him that approval from Interstate Compact was necessary to proceed. Mr. C. reported to the worker that he had recently been told by a mutual friend of the C. family and Alex’s foster family that Ms. H mistreated Alex. This was the first of several allegations Mr. C. would make against Ms. H.

 

The DCF caseworker completed Interstate Compact paperwork on August 28, 2000 and forwarded it to the Connecticut Interstate Compact office. In a letter received on August 29th, in the Connecticut Interstate Compact Office, CHS acknowledged completion of the agreed upon activities and informed DCF that they had notified the appropriate local agency in the Florida county where the family lived of the case. CHS stated they would transfer the case to them and provided DCF with the name of the agency and contact person. In addition, the letter commented that the C. family had thus far participated in two of ten required parenting classes described the C.’s as "prompt and courteous…verbalized appropriate child development knowledge…don’t believe in physical discipline…appear caring and compassionate…will make excellent adoptive parents…"

 

Despite the caseworker narrative entry on August 28, 2000 stating that the CPS and local criminal checks were both negative, DCF received a fax from CHS on August 29th stating that there was a Florida Protective Services System abuse report involving Mr. C. The CPS check revealed that Mr. C. was listed as a reporter in a March 2000 incident where he alleged that his nephew was being abused. During the course of that investigation, Mr. C. disclosed to the investigator that he himself had been the victim of severe abuse as a child and that he suffered from "post traumatic stress disorder" and, in fact, was currently under the care of a psychiatrist. The report further notes that the prospective foster parents were uncooperative and Mr. C was rude when the child protection worker visited their home. The home was described as cluttered and disorganized. There is no documentation in the DCF narrative regarding receipt of this fax or review by anyone at DCF despite its presence in the case file.

 

Also on August 29th, the caseworker received notification that Alex would not be eligible for Florida Medicaid (Title XIX), as he had been determined ineligible for Title IV-E.2 DCF proceeded with their plan to transfer Alex’s care to the C. family.

 

On September 1, 2000 DCF was apprised that Mr. and Mrs. C. planned to drive to Maine that weekend to visit with her mother. Mrs. C. reported that she had taken a family medical leave from her job in anticipation of caring for Alex. It was later determined that the prospective foster mother was not employed and therefore had not taken a family medical leave. DCF encouraged the prospective adoptive parents to spend as much time as possible with Alex during their visit to Maine in order to "allow Alex and the C.’s further bonding" and to provide respite for Ms. H. DCF notified Ms. H. of the plan.

 

On September 6th, upon request of DCF, Maine DHS approved Mrs. C.’s mother’s home for respite care. DHS based its approval on a walk-through examination of the home, criminal and CPS checks. Although visits with Alex began immediately after the C.’s arrival in Maine, Alex went to stay with his prospective adoptive family once the DCF administrative approval was given on September 8, 2000.

 

The C.'s expressed concern about Alex’s physical condition to DCF and the Maine Interstate Compact worker. Their concerns included ill-fitting shoes, the condition of his clothing, his personal hygiene and a "suspicious" bruise on his lower back. The Maine worker confirmed to DCF that she had seen what she also referred to as a "suspicious" bruise. DCF informed the Interstate Compact worker that they would make a report to Maine CPS investigation unit. The record does not reflect whether this report was ever made.

On September 7th, the DCF worker contacted Florida DCF regarding the C.’s adoption application. DCF was informed that the application was received but the process could not be expedited given the reorganization situation within the Florida DCF system. As it became apparent that Interstate Compact regulations would not allow for an immediate transition for Alex, DCF began to seek ways to expedite the process. Ultimately, it was decided that Alex would go on an extended "visit" to Florida with the C.’s and the worker was erroneously advised by the CT Interstate Compact supervisor that a 30 day visit was permissible. DCF was hopeful that the intensive home study, police checks and assessment process could be completed within the 30 day time period.

 

A "visit" is distinguished from "placement " by Interstate Compact in that "the purpose of a visit is to provide the child with a social or cultural experience of short duration, such as a stay in a camp or with a friend or relative who has not assumed legal responsibility for providing child care services." DCF, however, was clear in its intent that Alex was being placed with this family permanently. An Interstate Compact unit supervisor advised the worker that "we have to do our utmost best to have a study completed within 30 days. Florida does have the right to insist the child be returned if it isn’t. I would plan to always ‘say’ to Florida, when discussing this visit, that the child will return in 30 days, this is respite for the foster family." Notes in the file indicate that DCF hoped to find a Florida agency to do the home study.

 

Administrative approval was granted on September 7, 2000 for Alex to stay with the C.’s in Maine. Approval for him to go to Florida was pending. The caseworker contacted the couple on September 8th to inform them of the decision and cautioned them that Mr. B. and Ms. H. were still "legally responsible" for Alex until the necessary paperwork was completed to place Alex "legally" in their care. The C.’s were informed that they would receive the "medically fragile" respite care rate to care for Alex. The worker made plans to travel to Maine on September 13th to complete the paperwork.

 

Although it is undocumented in the DCF file, Maine CPS records indicate that another child protection report was made on September 11, 2000 by Mr. C. alleging that he had witnessed physical abuse of Alex by Ms. H. in her home. Maine CPS records indicate that they notified Connecticut DCF of the allegation and that they were instructed to remove Alex immediately from Mr. B. and Ms. H. and place him in the care of Mr. and Mrs. C.

 

On September 12th, the DCF worker requested assistance from the DCF nurse in obtaining Alex’s medical records. The DCF nurse contacted the health care provider and the prospective adoptive mother on September 13th. The nurse gave Mrs. C. information regarding the child’s health history and encouraged her to further discuss his caregiving needs with his physician. They also addressed his special educational needs. It is unknown from the record whether any providers were identified for the family in Florida by the caseworker, nurse or Mr. & Mrs. C.

 

On September 13th, the caseworker traveled to Maine and met with the C.’s and the Maine Interstate Compact worker. The C.’s reported additional concerns that Alex was experiencing "nightmares" and alleged that Alex was pinching his penis and stating, "Mommy does it." The caseworker documented that an appointment was made to have Alex seen by his pediatrician in Maine prior to their planned departure by automobile for Florida on September 18th.

 

The next notation in the DCF case file, date September 26th, is notification from a hospital in Florida that Alex was brain dead.

 

Epilogue
 

According to Mr. and Mrs. C., Alex stood in the bathtub and fell on the morning of September 25th. The couple said that he complained of a stomachache throughout the day and soiled his pants numerous times. Late in the afternoon, Mrs. C. went to the store. When she returned approximately 20-30 minutes later, Mr. C. told her that something was wrong with Alex and that he was unresponsive. They called 911 and performed CPR until emergency workers arrived.

 

Alex was transported to a local community hospital and was resuscitated after twenty-eight minutes. He was then transferred to the regional children’s hospital intensive care unit. On September 26, 2000 the hospital contacted the DCF caseworker to inform her that Alex had been admitted that day and was clinically determined to be "brain dead." He had apparently sustained a life-threatening injury that the hospital suspected was inflicted trauma. Alex was declared dead at 4:40 p.m. September 26, 2000. However, he remained on life support until 12:53 p.m. on September 27th anticipating the arrival of family.

 

The Florida Medical Examiner performed an autopsy on September 28, 2000. She listed the manner of death as homicide and the immediate cause of death as asphyxia.

 

Findings
 

1. DCF inadequately documented events in Alex’s life.
 

DCF failed to comply with case documentation requirements. DCF policy lists case recordings as one of DCF’s tools for supervising placements. In this case, there is virtually no documentation of Alex’s first seven months in foster care in Connecticut. Documentation is sporadic during Alex’s time in Maine and some significant information and events are not even mentioned. For example, on September 11, 2000 the prospective adoptive father made an allegation against the Maine foster mother. Maine CPS notified DCF of the allegation and DCF instructed Maine to remove Alex from the relative foster family. There is no documentation in the DCF case record regarding this incident. Moreover, there are no entries in Alex’s case file after September 13, 2000, when DCF was in Maine to officially turn Alex’s care over to the prospective adoptive parents, until his death on September 26, 2000.

 

2. DCF placed Alex with relatives in Maine when he was seven months old. Soon thereafter he was identified as having emerging special health and developmental needs.
 

Alex ultimately was diagnosed with several medical problems requiring multi-specialty follow-up and also required multi-disciplinary early intervention services. He was under the care of a primary care physician as well as specialists in orthopedics, neurology and hematology. He was receiving physical, occupational and speech therapies and special education services. DCF considered Alex to be "medically fragile."

 

3. DCF did not maintain regular contact with Alex’s relative foster family nor did they ensure that Maine authorities were providing oversight of Alex’s placement through Interstate Compact.
DCF visited Alex only once during his three years of placement with his relatives in Maine; the visit occurred after Alex had been in Maine for ten months. Telephone contact with the foster family was limited as well. During one ten month period, DCF had no contact with the family at all. The foster mother articulated her need for support in caring for Alex, even before the birth of her infant with Down Syndrome. Involved providers and professional evaluators also recommended increased support services to the family. However, DCF failed to provide this family with guidance and support in meeting Alex’s increasingly complex needs.

 

4. DCF was concerned about the quality of care that Alex was receiving in his relative foster placement as early as July 1998. Yet he remained in this placement for 2 more years with minimal state oversight.
 

DCF’s failure to maintain regular contact with the foster family contributed to a distorted perception of the quality of Alex’s care. DCF’s concern that the foster parents were not meeting Alex’s needs was based on very little information. Moreover, despite that concern, DCF failed to intensify its monitoring of the family or to ensure additional support for the family. DCF not only ignored their oversight responsibility for this vulnerable child in placement; they neglected to follow through with Maine officials regarding Interstate Compact provisions for placement supervision.

 

5. In the transfer to Florida, DCF failed to follow the policies and procedures established by the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children.
 

The Interstate Compact distinguishes a "visit" from a "placement" and states, "the purpose of a visit is to provide the child with a social or cultural experience of short duration, such as a stay in a camp or with a friend or relative who has not assumed legal responsibility for providing child care services." DCF intended for Alex to live permanently with the C. family in Florida.

 

DCF bypassed the adoptive parent licensing process by labeling Alex’s placement a "visit." A DCF Interstate Compact supervisor instructed the DCF social worker, "I would plan to always ‘say’ to Florida, when discussing this visit, that the child will return in 30 days, this is respite for the foster family." DCF violated the Interstate Compact and sent Alex to Florida in the custody of people they knew almost nothing about and with no supervision. DCF, in a rush to place Alex, ignored safeguards designed to protect him from the harm that ultimately killed him.

 

Article III of the Interstate Compact states the following:

(b) Prior to sending…any child…into a receiving state for placement in foster care or as a preliminary to a possible adoption, the sending agency shall furnish the appropriate public authorities in the receiving state written notice of the intention to send…the child in the receiving state…"

 

(d) The child shall not be sent…into the receiving state until the appropriate public authorities in the receiving state shall notify the sending agency, in writing, to the effect that the proposed placement does not appear to be contrary to the interests of the child.

 

DCF failed to comply with these requirements. Florida authorities did not know Alex was in their state until after his death. By failing to notify Florida child protection officials, DCF did not give them the opportunity to oppose Alex’s placement with the prospective adoptive parents or to monitor his care. Also, DCF ignored the time guidelines given by Florida’s CHS for licensure and placed him without assurance of a favorable, timely outcome.

6. DCF failed to adequately assess the suitability of Alex’s prospective Florida adoptive family to parent him and to meet his special needs. Key indicators of potential parenting problems were ignored.
 

DCF allowed the prospective adoptive parents to assume care of Alex even though they had not completed the licensing process, which includes a home study and a FBI check. DCF was aware of these requirements, but ignored them so that they could place Alex with the prospective adoptive parents as quickly as possible. DCF ignored their own nurse practitioner’s advice regarding necessary preparation of any prospective caregiver to meet Alex’s complex needs. Ultimately, DCF placed Alex with this family on the basis of one home visit, a local criminal check and a CPS check that the worker documented was negative. However, contained in the case record was a Florida child protective report describing the prospective adoptive father’s involvement in a Florida child abuse case. DCF received from CHS a faxed copy of the CPS report. The CPS report gives an accounting of Mr. C.’s personal experience of severe abuse as a child and significant mental health issues. There was no further assessment of these key risk indicators and the potential impact they may have had on his parenting of this child with special needs.

 

7. DCF failed to ensure that Alex had the necessary health insurance to meet his special health and developmental service needs in Florida.
 

DCF sent Alex to Florida despite the knowledge that Alex’s medical coverage through the State of Connecticut was not transferable to Florida. In the desire to place Alex as quickly as possible, DCF ignored Alex’s complex medical and developmental needs, insurance complications, and notes in their own file stating that Alex’s caregiver should be given "extensive instruction" and that he should have a team of specialists lined up before he moved.

 

8. DCF failed to adequately supervise Alex’s caseworkers in their case management of a child determined to be "medically fragile" and placed out of state, for whom they were the statutory parent.
 

Even routine review of Alex’s file by a supervisor should have revealed the poor case documentation and the failure to conduct routine visits. It is not clear whether supervisors failed to review the file or failed to correct obvious problems in case practice. In either case, DCF did not adequately supervise Alex’s caseworkers. In addition, supervisors should have noticed that permanency planning for Alex was not proceeding in a timely fashion. Again, it is not clear whether supervisors failed to review the file or failed to instruct caseworkers to conduct a thorough review of Alex’s situation and make a decision about the proposed adoption.

 

When DCF sends a child out of state and relies upon that state’s public or private child welfare system for oversight and supervision, DCF must be clear in their expectations of the agencies and caregivers of the child. They must also be vigilant in monitoring those expectations regarding the care of the child.

 

9. Supervisors lack an independent source of information upon which to monitor case practice and evaluate job performance.
 

Supervisors rely upon workers for nearly all information about a child and the child’s case. Even the supervisor’s review of the case record consists mainly of review of documentation placed in the record by the worker. The worker decides what information will be included and how it will be presented. The current system does not provide the supervisor will a consistent source of independent information nor does it encourage field supervision or other direct review of case practice. Consequently, supervisors cannot meaningfully guide workers’ case practice and cannot effectively review the workers’ performance.

 

10. DCF workers are overwhelmed with the volume of policy and procedural information disseminated through the internal computer system.
 

Fatality review interviews revealed that DCF does not provide ongoing training on policies. DCF administration relies on their internal computer network to disseminate new policy and procedural changes to their staff. Merely posting a new policy on the computer system does not ensure that employees understand the policy change and are able to effectively implement agency initiatives.

 

Staff shared frustration with determining the relevance of some of the new policies and procedures to their specific job duties and how to prioritize the new directives.
 

Recommendations
 

1. DCF must obey the requirements of the Interstate Compact on the placement of children. 

· DCF must review existing cases to determine whether employees understand and follow provisions of the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children.

· DCF leadership should emphasize to employees the importance of the Interstate Compact.

· DCF leadership needs to demonstrate its respect and commitment to enforcing the requirements of the Interstate Compact by giving the Interstate Compact office adequate staffing and support. At present, Interstate Compact workers handle approximately 500 cases each and are expected to interpret Interstate Compact provisions without legal assistance.

· DCF regional office staff must be adequately trained and develop working knowledge of the Interstate Compact. Given the large number of children placed out of state, and DCF’s dependence on the receiving state for oversight of the care and protection of Connecticut children, this would help to ensure child safety and well being.

2. DCF must ensure adequate supervision of employees.

· DCF leadership must reform its system of supervision of employees, particularly caseworkers. Supervisors need access to objective information about the case and the child in order to monitor the quality of case practice and to prevent tragedy resulting from poor judgment or error. Changes to the supervisory system could include mandatory field supervision, reliance on teams of two or more workers for case management, and use of periodic external audits of case practice.

· DCF leadership must require supervisors to regularly review case files to ensure that workers are following procedures designed to protect children;

· DCF needs to establish and enforce consequences for failing to follow policy;

· DCF ought to provide regular feedback so that employees get positive reinforcement for achievements and learn how to improve job performance.
3. DCF must ensure that their employees understand and effectively implement dcf policy and procedures.
 

Specifically, DCF must examine their current case practice to determine whether DCF employees understand and effectively implement DCF policy and procedures. DCF must reassess training regarding polices and procedures and must improve methods of ensuring implementation of the policies. Specific attention should be given to policy concerning:

· Evaluation of prospective caregivers;

· Oversight and support for caregivers;

· Case documentation;

· Visitation;

· Permanency planning.

Given the scope of DCF responsibilities for child protection, children’s mental health and juvenile justice, their policies and procedures are voluminous. The sheer amount of information overwhelms DCF workers. DCF leadership should simplify policy so that procedures are clear and easy to follow.

 

4. DCF must improve external and internal communication.
 

Many of the problems in this case stem from a lack of communication. DCF needs to make the following changes in order to improve communication:

State-to-State Communication
· In cases involving Interstate Compact, DCF must establish clear expectations with the receiving state about their monitoring of the child’s health, safety and well-being.

· DCF should establish clear protocols for regular written and oral communication between the receiving state oversight agency and DCF.

DCF Communication with Foster Parents and Providers

· DCF workers should maintain regular contact with out-of-state caregivers and providers who oversee Connecticut children.

· DCF needs to be clear with out of state caregivers and providers regarding DCF expectations of written communication documenting the child's safety, health and well-being.

· Communication with out-of-state foster parents should reflect DCF’s respect for foster parents as partners in their care and protection of children. Regular and thorough communication between the child’s caregivers and the department is critical to ensuring the child’s well-being.

· DCF should provide adequate support for foster parents struggling to meet the needs of children with special health and developmental needs.

Internal Communication

· DCF leadership must establish clear expectations with their staff regarding the need to communicate information relevant to child safety and well-being.

· DCF leadership must develop a system for helping DCF employees to prioritize the overwhelming amount of information they receive so that important information is communicated to supervisors and is not lost.

5. DCF must develop policies and procedures for placement and oversight of children in out-of-state foster care.
At a minimum, a child placed out of state should be protected by the same systems that protect a child placed in the state. These protections include:

· Initial site visit by a DCF worker or someone hired by DCF, to assess the residence and to personally evaluate the prospective caregiver;

· A personal interview that includes discussion of factors that might disqualify a candidate for foster care or adoption including child rearing knowledge and disciplinary practice;

· Child specific information and training regarding the child’s special needs;

· A monthly visit, either by a DCF worker or someone hired by DCF, to assess and document the child’s welfare.

· Review of major life changes that have occurred in the past year for the candidate;

· Review of mental health issues including any separation or trauma the prospective parents or family members may have experienced during their lives;

· Search of protective service records, criminal history records, and local police, state police and FBI records;

· An FBI or state police fingerprint search may also be requested whenever there is indication of a criminal history;

6. DCF must ensure that Connecticut children placed in out-of-state foster care have adequate medical insurance coverage.
· DCF must review existing cases to determine whether children in out-of-state placements, especially children with special medical needs, have adequate medical insurance. If a child’s medical insurance is not transferable, as in Alex’s case, DCF should arrange for medical care and coverage prior to sending the child to another state.

Appendix
 

Mandate of the Office of the Child Advocate and Statutory Mandate of the Child Fatality Review Panel
 

Pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes sections 46a-131 (a) (b) and (c), the Child Advocate shall:
· Evaluate the delivery of services to children by state agencies and those entities that provide services to children through funds provided by the state;

· Review periodically the procedures established by any state agency providing services to children to carry out the provisions of the statute;

· Review complaints of persons concerning the action of any state or municipal agency providing services to children and any entity that provides services to children through funds provided by the state;

· Make appropriate referrals and investigate those where the Child Advocate determines that a child or family may be in need of assistance from the Child Advocate or a systemic issue in the state’s provision of services to children is raised by the complaint;

· Periodically review the procedures of any and all institutions or residences, public or private, where a juvenile has been placed by any agency or department;

· Recommend changes in state policies concerning children including changes in the system of providing juvenile justice, child care, foster care and treatments;

· The Child Advocate shall take all possible action including but not limited to conducting program of public education, undertaking legislative advocacy and making proposals for systemic reform and formal legal action, in order to secure and ensure the legal, civil and special rights of children who reside in this state; and

· The Child Fatality Panel is composed of seven permanent members. The panel shall review the circumstances of the death of a child placed in out-of-home care or whose death was due to unexpected or unexplained causes to facilitate development of prevention strategies to address identified trends and patterns of risk to improve coordination of services for children and families in the state.
The Interstate Compact 
The Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children is the means by which each state ensures the protection and services to children who are placed across state lines. The Interstate compact governs foster care and adoption. The Compact is a uniform law that has been enacted by all 50 states, the District of Columbia, and the U.S. Virgin Islands. The Compact law contains 10 articles and 10 regulations that govern children being sent to other states. The Compact applies to four types of situations in which children may be sent to another state:

· Placement preliminary to an adoption

· Placement into foster care, including foster homes, group homes, residential treatment facilities, and institutions

· Placements with parents and relatives when a parent or relative is not making the placement

· Placement of adjudicated delinquent in institutions in other sates.

The Compact does not apply to a placement made in medical and mental health facilities or in boarding schools or any institution primarily educational in character. In order to safeguard both the child and the parties involved in the child’s placement, the Compact:

· Provides the sending agency the opportunity to obtain home studies and an evaluation of the proposed placement

· Allows the prospective receiving state to ensure that the placement is not "contrary to the interest of the child" and that its applicable laws and polices have been followed before it approves the placement

· Guarantees the child legal and financial protection by fixing these responsibilities with the sending agency to individual states.

· Ensure that the sending agency does not lose jurisdiction over the child once the child moves to the receiving state.

· Provides the sending agency the opportunity to obtain supervision and regular reports on the child’s adjustment and progress in the placement.
All states use the same forms to give notice that a child is being considered for placement. Six weeks or 30 working days are the recommended processing time, from the date the receiving state Compact office receives the notice of the placement until the date the placement is approved or denied. When the request to place a child has been approved, the states work together to arrange the details of the actual placement. Each state appoints a Compact administrator. The Compact office is part of the department of public welfare or the state’s equivalent agency. The Compact Administrator is designated to serve as the central clearing point for all referrals from interstate placements. The Administrator or his/her deputy is authorized to conduct the necessary investigation of the proposed placement and to determine whether or not the placement is contrary to the child’s interest. After the placement is approved the child is moved into the state. The Compact Administrator then has the responsibility to oversee the placement as long as it continues. 

Panel Members
Jeanne Milstein, Chairperson Child Advocate
Betty Spivack, M.D. Pediatrician
John Bailey, Esq. Chief State’s Attorney
H. Wayne Carver II, M.D. Chief Medical Examiner
Leticia Lacomba, M.S.W. Regional Administrator*, Department of Children and Families
Jane Norgren Child Care Center
Commissioner Arthur Spada Department of Public Safety


Consultants
Frank Rudewicz
Kiersten Bechtel M.D.
Faith Vos Winkel**

 

Staff
Jeanne Milstein, Child Advocate
Christy Scott, Esq. Associate Child Advocate
Mickey Kramer, MS, RN-C, Assistant Child Advocate
Julie McKenna, Assistant Child Advocate
Moira O’Neill, MSN/MPH, RN, Assistant Child Advocate
Denise Scruggs, Administrative Assistant


* Leticia Lacomba abstained from discussion and review of Alex’s case. Darlene Dunbar was the designated alternate.

* * The Child Advocate and the Child Fatality Review Panel gratefully acknowledges the generous assistance of the Office of Protection and Advocacy for Persons with Disabilities in the research, drafting and editing of this report by its employee Faith VosWinkel.

_____________________________

[1] Guide to the Interstate Compact on the Placement of Children.  The Connecticut Department of Children and Families Interstate Compact unit is currently overseeing approximately 1500 children placed under the Interstate Compact.  At the time of Alex's death, fewer than four individual staffed the unit.
[2] Title IV-E of the Social Security Act provides a mechanism for children in state custody to receive health benefits.
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